
 

 

Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday January 3rd, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the January 3rd, 2023, Regular Meeting of The Lyman Board of Selectmen. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded 
 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. Select Board Public Hearing – Present information and allow public comment on Article questions to 

be voted on at Special Town Meeting scheduled January 18th, 2023 
b. Close public hearing and open regular Select Board meeting 
c. Vote to approve warrant for Special Town Meeting.  

 
ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 

a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board 
b. Mail    

o Historical Society  o  FCC Letter   o MBH Letter o RSU #57 Annual Report 
c. Complaints 

 

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
   Review/ approve meeting minutes 12/19/2022 
 

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS  
a. Payroll Warrant #29 in the amount of $25,342.96 
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #30 (FY2023) in the amount of $595,509.10 

 

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Health Officer. Discussion from last meeting.  

 
 

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  
a. Road Commissioner –  
b. Fire Chief –  
c. Kennebunk Pond Beach Committee – Dave Alves Liaison Report/update 
d. Treasurer – Expense Summary Report 12/29/2022 
e. CEO –  
f. Tax Clerk –  
g. Other  -  

 
ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 

a. Discuss scheduling Budget Workshops  
b. RFP – Open sealed bids for Mowing Contract 
c. RFP – Open sealed bids for Winter Maintenance of Town Roads 
d. Auditing Services Contract Expires 6/2023. Review quotes for services 
e. EcoMaine Grant Application Letter 

 

OTHER 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION  
1.M.R.S.A §405 (E) Attorney/ legal matters 
 
ADJOURN 



TOWN OF LYMAN 
SPECIAL TOWN MEETING WARRANT 

TO SHIRLEY HARRISON, RESIDENT IN THE TOWN OF LYMAN, COUNTY OF YORK, AND 

THE STATE OF MAINE. 

GREETINGS: In the name of the State of Maine, you are hereby required to notify and warn the inhabitants of 

the Town of Lyman, qualified to vote in Town affairs, to meet at the Lyman Town Hall on Wednesday 

January 18th, 2023 at 6:00 PM and then there to act on articles numbered 1 through 3 as set out below. The 

election of Moderator will take place at 5:50 P.M. 

ARTICLE 1: To choose a Moderator by written ballot to preside at said meeting. 

ARTICLE 2: To see if the Town will authorize the Select Board to sell any tax-acquired property and/or 

Town-owned real estate the Select Board deems no longer purposeful for municipal use and to 

issue a quit claim deed for the same. Sales to be by sealed bids, public auction or contract with a 

real estate broker, if to other than the owner of record at the time of foreclosure, and no Select 

Board member during the term of his or her office may acquire from the Town any interest in 

real estate acquired by the Town on account of nonpayment of taxes unless the owner of record 

at the time of foreclosure was the Select Board member or the son, daughter, spouse, or parent of 

the Select Board member. Except that the Municipal Officers shall use the special sale process 

required by 36 M.R.S §943-C for qualifying homestead property if they choose to sell to anyone 

other than the former owner(s).  

ARTICLE 3:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $5,400.00 from Surplus and $9,630.50 from Town 

Hall Feasibility to be added to the $5,000.00 from HR Job Study previously appropriated, being 

a total of $20,030.50 for the purpose of HR job Study.  

Current Fiscal Years 

Budget 

Selectmen’s  

recommendation 

Budget Committees 

recommendation 

$5,000.00 $20,030.50  

($5,000 existing budget, 

transfer additional $5,400 from 

surplus and $9,630.50 from 

Town Hall Feasibility) 

$ $20,030.50  

($5,000 existing budget, transfer 

additional $15,030.50 from surplus) 

         Selectmen’s vote: 5-0-0 Budget Committee’s Vote:  5-1-0

Note: This is to cover a salary and benefits HR job study in preparation of annual budget FY2024 

and by the newly adopted Municipal Charter and Town Manager role.  

Given under our hand at Lyman, Maine this ___  day of _________, A.D., 2023. 

______ 

Ralph “Rusty” Blackington, Chair Thomas Hatch, Vice Chair 

____________ 

John Tibbetts David Alves 

Jessica Picard 

ITEM #1: (a) Public Hearing re: Special Town Meeting and Warrant



ITEM #2: (b.) Mail - Historical Scociety. 



FCC DIGITAL DISCRIMINATION RULEMAKING ADVISORY 

On December 21, 2022, the Federal Communications Commission adopted a Notice of Proposed 
Rulemaking (NPRM) that has the potential to impact local governments’ ability to ensure equitable 
broadband deployment throughout their communities as well as local rights-of-way management 
generally.  The Commission will be adopting rules aimed at facilitating equal access to broadband 
services, and the NPRM provides a significant opportunity for local governments to:  

• Ensure the rules protect and promote local governments’ ability to address broadband
access issues;

• Demonstrate that the Commission’s preemption of local authority over wireless
deployment and cable franchising hinders efforts to ensure equal access to broadband; and

• Defend against efforts to use the digital discrimination docket to further preempt local
authority.

The NPRM follows a Notice of Inquiry (NOI) the FCC issued in March of 2022 as a first step in 
implementing 60506 of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. Section 60506 requires the 
Commission to adopt rules by the fall of 2023 “to facilitate equal access to broadband internet 
access service.”  The NPRM, among other things, seeks further comment on the rules the 
Commission should adopt to facilitate equal access and combat digital discrimination.1  The 
Commission expressly contemplates addressing state and local laws that may impact infrastructure 
deployment.  

Unlike many past NPRMs impacting local governments, in this case we have the opportunity to 
proactively propose rules and rule changes that support local authority. The NPRM 
references municipal comments filed in response to the NOI suggesting that the Commission 
examine whether its regulations can be revised to provide local governments greater latitude to 
encourage providers to address underserved area. It also cites comments urging the Commission 
to examine the discriminatory impact state laws may have, arguing that statutory schemes from 
the mid-2000s fail to address issues of digital discrimination.  The NPRM also proposes to adopt 
model policies and best practices for states and localities to combat digital discrimination. The 
model policies, developed by the Commission’s Communications Equity and Diversity Council 
(CEDC), include a discussion of the positive role cable franchising has had in enforcing buildout 
and system upgrades, and specifically recommends a policy that “[a]greements to use the rights-
of-way should reflect that the privilege of using public assets comes with an obligation to provide 
a benefit to the public … .” It is critical that local governments build on this record, reinforce the 
CEDC’s support for local franchising as a means of addressing digital discrimination, and push 
the Commission to establish rules that support local efforts to respond to the broadband needs of 

1 Section 60506 requires the Commission to adopt rules to facilitate equal access to broadband, accounting for 
“issues of technical and economic feasibility,” that include “preventing digital discrimination of access based on 
income level, race, ethnicity, color, religion, or national origin,” and “identifying necessary steps for the 
Commission to take to eliminate [digital] discrimination.” 

ITEM#2: (b.) Mail - FCC Letter



their communities. This docket also provides the opportunity to urge the Commission to revisit the 
preemptive impacts of its small cell and cable franchising order that impede those efforts.  
Commission support for local authority may also help efforts to reshape state laws that limit 
authority over broadband deployment and local franchising. 

In addition to proactive efforts, it is evident that some industry groups seek to use this docket to 
further preempt local authority.  The NPRM cites to industry suggestions from the NOI that the 
Commission enact rules to expedite and streamline permitting, facilitate access to poles and public 
rights-of-way, and preempt municipal right-of-way access fees.  This effort to paint local 
regulations as the problem is similar to arguments that resulted in the preemption of local authority 
over small cell deployments and new limitations on authority over cable companies’ non-cable 
facilities and services.  It is important for local governments to file in this docket to counter the 
suggestion that local regulations are contributing to digital discrimination and to oppose 
further limitations on local authority. 

Comments will be due 30 days after publication in the Federal Register, with reply comments due 
30 days after the comment deadline.  With publication likely to occur sometime in January, we 
estimate that comments will be due in February and replies due in March.   



ITEM#2: Mail (b.) - MBH Letter





Regional School Unit 57
86 West Road, Waterboro, Maine 04087

Tel. No. (207) 247-3221
Fax. No. (207) 247-3477

Dr. Stephen D. Marquis Kyle Keenan
Superintendent Assistant Superintendent

Erica Mazzeo Colin M. Walsh, CPA Timothy O’Connor Nora Lantagne
Dir.  of Curriculum Dir. of Finance & Operations Dir. of Special Education   Asst. Dir. Special Education

RSU 57 prepares respectful, responsible and creative thinkers for success in the global community.

January 2023

To: Lyman Select Board,

I am pleased to report to your community the State of RSU 57 Schools. The information provided represents
the current 2022-2023 school year inclusive of all schools and specific attendance and budgetary information
pertaining specifically to Lyman.

RSU 57 administration and School Board share a firm belief in the importance of hiring and retaining talented
and diverse individuals who bring different backgrounds to our district. Staff members create a collaborative
workplace that is growth-oriented and focused on continuous improvement. Our goals will be achieved
through our efforts to motivate exceptional people as we convey the expectation of world class performance in
classrooms across the district. RSU 57 is a learning community that celebrates individuals who question the
status quo, seek out knowledge, and strive for continual improvement. There is a growing sense of ownership
and opportunity wherein success of the direct is a result of the cumulative actions of many. To that end, we
seek to build strong relationships with our community and RSU 57 families. Meaningful collaboration
between all RSU 57 community members is critical to our goals for continual improvement. To this end, there
is much work to do!

Strategic Planning: The RSU 57 School Board has approved the formation of a Strategic Planning
Committee with the charge to create a five-year for RSU 57 to include, at a minimum, statements of mission
and core beliefs, with identified goals, actions for meeting those goals, and identified performance indicators
to measure progress. The committee will engage the community and staff in the planning process, will report
on its progress at a School Board meeting each month, and will present a draft Strategic Plan for the School
Board's review, input, and eventual approval by the first School Board meeting of the 2023-2024 school year.

Curriculum/Programming: Our faculty and staff have a strong commitment to ensuring a healthy,
positive, and industrious school culture. Adults’ collaboration and collegial relationships help optimize the
school day for our children and their learning. Our school’s commitment to the social and emotional
well-being of all students has never been greater, nor more important, than it is now.  Our educators are
committed to creating a school environment that is welcoming, safe, and supportive of each child. There is
much to celebrate in RSU 57 schools.  Recent assessment data in Math and Reading indicates that our
students have fared better than most with regards to learning loss during the pandemic.  We have seen scores
that have rebounded across most of our grade levels to pre-pandemic levels of achievement.

ITEM# 2: (b.) Mail - RSU #57 Annual Report



Our elementary classrooms across our district have implemented a newly adopted math curriculum.  Reveal
Math, a McGraw Hill curriculum, has provided professional development support for our teachers, along with
the support of the Maine Math and Science Alliance, to grow the use of high impact teaching strategies in the
area of math instruction.  We are excited to see in the coming years what we expect will be impressive gains
in our students’ level of math achievement. During the 2022-2023 school year, elementary staff will be
focusing on 1.) Rebuilding a sense of community, 2.) Celebrating student success, and 3.) Supporting the
social, emotional, and behavioral needs of our students.

Massabesic Middle School (MMS) continues to focus on a student-centered approach to the middle grades,
emphasizing social-emotional learning and making connections to peers and to the school community. During
the 2022-2023 school year, MMS staff are focusing on two overarching goals. 1.) Meeting our students’
individual academic needs through instructional support in literacy and numeracy, effective use of our
Response to Learning (RtL) block and individualized examination of what students are showing us that enable
thoughtful planning to promote continual growth. 2.) Ensuring that every student feels seen and connected as
we expand student support systems, celebrate academic and co-curricular success, and foster peer to peer
connections with positive experiences.

Massabesic High School (MHS) is currently preparing for its decennial visit (to be held in the fall of 2023) for
regional accreditation through the New England Association of Schools and Colleges (NEASC). We welcome
this opportunity to show areas we are expanding and improving, as well as insight into areas of desired growth
and improvement. During the 2022-2023 school year, MHS staff are focusing on two primary goals for
measurable improvement. 1.) Increasing student engagement in our classrooms and throughout our school as
measured by student perception data collected through the Youth Truth Survey, increases in extra and
co-curricular participation, and a reduction in chronic absenteeism and truancy. 2.) Increasing literacy and
numeracy skills of our learners through the addition of embedded literacy skill instruction across the
curriculum, explicit connections between our curriculum and how it prepares students for career and college,
and increased student participation rates for mandated assessments that will exceed State requirements.

Finance and Budget: The School Board began the development of the fiscal year 2023-2024 budget in
early January, 2023. The budget is developed annually based upon the district educational goals,
evaluation of current and future education programs, needs as expressed by state and federal
requirements, staffing which is necessary to achieve these goals, facility maintenance plans as well as
consideration of local economic conditions. The Finance Committee meets weekly from January
through March to prepare a budget for the School Board’s review and consideration.  Creating a fiscally
responsible budget while providing the best educational experience for our students is our focus.

Facilities and Maintenance: The School Board and Finance Committee remain committed to reviewing
and updating their annual and long term facility maintenance plans. Given the number of buildings and also
the aging nature of the District’s facilities it is vitally important that they are cared for as efficiently as
possible in an effort to keep unexpected repair costs to a minimum. The District continues to ensure that
buildings are well maintained through a structured preventative maintenance approach which includes
roofing, leach fields, heating and ventilation systems, air and water quality, masonry, lighting, life safety
systems and windows. The vast majority of these projects have been and will continue to be funded through
the District’s annual budget, federal grant funds or the District’s capital reserve fund. It is through this
structured and proactive approach that the District has been able to control repair and replacement costs and
be as efficient as possible in using your local tax dollars.



The School Board plans to have a final approved budget in April to present to the citizens of RSU 57. Citizens
will be asked to attend the District Budget Meeting scheduled to be held on Monday, May 15, 2023, at the
Massabesic Middle School at 7:00 p.m. The District Referendum Vote will be held on June 13, 2023, at your
local precinct. The total General Fund Budget for the 2022-2023 school year for RSU #57 is $48,508,257. The
Town of Lyman’s local portion of this budget is $5,466,639, which equals 18.71% of the total local tax
assessment and represents an increase in Lyman’s local tax of $134,482 or 2.52% over the 2021-2022
assessment. The district per pupil expenditure continues to be at a moderate level comparative to the state
average.

Enrollment: The total enrollment for RSU #57 was 2,927 students in grades Pre-kindergarten through 12
based on the October 1 count. A total of 482 students from Lyman represent 16.5% of the total district
enrollment. Current location of students:

Alfred Elementary School (PK-5) 3 LINE Elementary School (PK-5) 1
Lyman Elementary School (PK-5) 219 Shapleigh Memorial School (PK-5) 0
Waterboro Elementary School (PK-5) 9 Massabesic Middle School (6-8) 90
Massabesic High School (9-12) 160

Thank you to the staff of RSU #57 for all their hard work and to the communities of RSU 57 for your
continued support. These past few years have proven to be a challenging time for everyone associated with the
district; however, given the perseverance and the level of cooperation, we are optimistic about our future. The
parent and community support that is afforded our schools is truly outstanding.  We are most appreciative of
this support and look forward to continued collaborative efforts in support of the growth of all of our students.

We would like to remind you that School Board meetings are held on the second and fourth Wednesday of the
month at 7:00 p.m. and a schedule of committee meetings can be found on our website.

Respectfully submitted,

RSU #57 Superintendent of Schools

Alfred Limerick Lyman Newfield Shapleigh Waterboro



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday December 19th, 2022 – Lyman Town Hall 

Selectboard members present: Ralph “Rusty” Blackington (Chair), Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair) David Alves, 
Jessica Picard, John Tibbetts 
Selectboard members absent: None 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS / PRESENTATIONS 
a. Public Hearing Re: Funky Bow Application/ Renewal for Special Amusement Permit
Ralph Blackington – Opens the public hearing at 6:00pm. Asks for any public comment. There is no
public comment regarding the application. Public hearing closes the public hearing at 6:02 pm.

Ralph Blackington – Opens the regular Select Board meeting.  
Thomas Hatch – Makes a motion to approve application renewal permit for Special Amusement for 
Funky Bow. John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board

Nicole Derosier – Asks the board about sale of town owned property, specifically a lot abutting her
property and if the town will be selling that lot.
David Alves – States they are identifying all the properties that they want to sell and then the next
steps will be to conduct a market analysis and determine the process which they will sell the
property.

b. Mail
o York County Sheriff’s o Caring Unlimited Letter o YCSP Letter

c. Complaints - none

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
Review/ approve meeting minutes 12/05/2022 
David Alves – Motions to approve minutes. Jessica Picard Seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #27 in the amount of $32,870.18

David Alves – Motions to approve Payroll Warrant. Jessica Picard Seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #28 (FY2023) in the amount of $109,897.20

David Alves – Motions to Accounts Payable Warrant. Jessica Picard Seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
Thomas Hatch – Discussion regarding invoice paid for Thyng Paving. Brad Nikel states they did the
shoulders on Oscar Littlefield Road.

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Old Kennebunk Road Gate – Town Council Response (Tabled from last meeting)

Thomas Hatch – States US Forestry had concerns about trash building up and this seems to be an
issue that may repeat itself. His suggestion is to continue locking the gates to limit dumping issues.
John Tibbets – States he spoke with an Alfred Select Board member that’s been in communication
with the forestry service about posting signage to state “Trash dumping is subject to federal
prosecution” to see if this would help with the enforcement issue of the dumping.
Brad Nikel – States the issue of locking the gate may require additional monitoring to ensure the
gates are staying locked.
David Alves – States it’s in the opinion of legal council that the abutters own to the centerline of the
road and the Town is not required to maintain a gate.
Maurice St. Clair – States after the Town voted to abandon the road, the Town still put money into
repairing damages of the road, although it may not be documented.

DRAFT
ITEM#3: Minutes



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday December 19th, 2022 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 4 

Brad Nikel – States the gates should be locked and keys provided to property owners.  
David Alves – States once the gates are locked by the Town, we may be assuming an obligation to 
maintain the gate. There was discussion to leave the gates as they are where the Select Board 
already made a motion on this issue.  

b. RFP – Classification & Compensation Study, discuss putting out to Bid
1. Discuss special town meeting

Lindsay Gagne – Suggests if doing a special Town meeting the Board can also schedule a Special Select 
Board meeting to follow afterwards where they can open RFPs, this way timing of scheduling a study 
won’t impact the budget process. There is currently $5,000 in the budget for an HR study and $9,630.50 
in the Feasibility that can be used, and the board could ask for additional funds from surplus.  
Jessica Picard – Verifies the RFP will also breakdown the cost of specific tasks, the board can negotiate 
using all some of the tasks.  
Thomas Hatch – Makes a motion to schedule a Special Town Meeting on January 18th, 2023 at 6:00pm 
at the Town Hall 
Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion. Motion Passes: 5-0-0 
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to schedule a public hearing for purposes of the Special Town 
Meeting on January 3rd, 2023 6:00pm 
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion Passes: 5-0-0 
Lindsay Gagne – Asks the board to choose five conspicuous locations to post the warrant. There is 
discussion from the board to post at Town Hall, Library, Transfer Station, Goodwin Mills General Store, 
and Jackson’s Corner or Harrys if either or both will allow it.  
Jessica Picard – makes a motion to schedule a Special Select Board meeting on January 18th, 2023 
following the Special Town Meeting for the purpose of opening RFPs.  
Thomas Hatch – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0 
Jessica Picard – Suggests appropriating the amount of $5,400 from Surplus.  
Lindsay Gagne – Suggests looking into adding an article to allow the board to sell tax acquired property 
using a real estate broker. There is discussion with the board to add this as an article question.  

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Road Commissioner –

Brad Nikel – States the shoulders on Oscar Littlefield Road has been done last week. The overhead
door at the salt shed has been fully repaired. There have been a lot of inquiries regarding Rt. 111
and Kennebunk Pond Road and when the traffic system and lights will be put in. He’s reached out to
DOT and received a response there is a reconstruction stabilization project scheduled for the
Summer of 2025. This will include two left turn lanes and a set of traffic lights.

b. Fire Chief – Review/ Approve GMFR Personnel Policy
Item addressed later in the meeting, Fire Chief not present
Matt Duross – States Dayton has suggested some changes that need to be reviewed. The policy will
be updated then re-submitted to the board.
David Alves – Asks if there was discussion of offering the Health Officer Position to Matt
Matt Duross – States he has discussed this, but he wanted a better understanding of what the
workload would be. He has offered assistance to the prior Health Officer. He suggested he could
assist temporarily pending on what the workload entails.
Jessica Picard – Suggests looking into the details of a health officer and revisit this at the next
meeting.
DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday December 19th, 2022 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 4 

Matt Duross – States He is looking for approval to purchase battery operation extrication equipment 
out of the GMFR equipment capital funds. He would be requesting an amount of $20,083.00 for this 
equipment. Dayton agreed to pay in addition to Lyman’s contribution.  
John Tibbetts – Makes a motion to approve this amount.  
Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion.  
David Alves – Verifies this is coming out of the current budget line.  
Motion passes: 5-0-0 
Matt Duross – States he is also looking for approval to purchase from the same budget line eight 
universal size ballistic vests for EMS personnel responders. Dayton will cover half the cost; Lyman 
would cover an amount of $3,580.0 
John Tibbetts – Makes a motion to approve. Jessica Picard Seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

c. Kennebunk Pond Beach Committee – Dave Alves Liaison Report/update
David Alves – States he met with the architect again and the Kennebunk Pond Beach Committee. He
recommends using this person for putting together a plan for Bunganut on what repairs are needed
up there. They determined they may not need a gate right now where the parking may ease some of
the actions currently going on there.

d. Treasurer – none
e. CEO – Review/ Approve CEO Fee schedule

Brenda Charland – States she reviewed Town’s of similar sizes to compare. She added minimum
fees for commercial. She updated renovations. Other costs were increased slightly. The septic is set
by the State of Maine and she adjusted the cost for the Town to get the maximum fees allowed. On
the Land Use fees, she ran past the Planning Board for their review and she suggested subdivision
fees have a base fee with a per lot fee. Last revision was in 2017.
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to approve the updated Fee Schedule as written effective
December 20, 2022
David Alves – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

f. Tax Clerk – November Report – Report reviewed in meeting. No discussion.
g. Other  - None

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Discuss scheduling Budget Workshops

Workshop is scheduled for December 29th, 2022 at 6:00pm.
b. Review Mowing Contract draft

Lindsay Gagne – Explained this contract mirrors the last with the exception under the insurance
section, it has been updated to reflect current policies and a non-appropriation clause was added
where it will be a multi-year contract.
John Tibbetts – Asks about the section regarding “Cleaning up” and defining “waste materials.
Lindsay Gagne – Explains this was mirrored from the prior contract and is interpreted that when the
work is done at the end of the day, the vendor is responsible for cleaning up grass clippings, leaves,
etc.

c. Review Town Roads Winter Maintenance Contract draft
Lindsay Gagne – Explains the contract was adjusted to update insurance requirements to match
current policy, more clearly define snow being removed to three and one-half feet to the outside of
the shoulders, to require 5 trucks and this will be a five-year contract with option to extend an
additional two years. A lot of towns are doing this where there is a shortage of truck drivers.
Brad Nikel – States there is also a max fuel price per gallon added in the RFP request.

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday December 19th, 2022 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 4 of 4 

d. Question re: Holiday pay part time employees – See email.
Lindsay Gagne – Explains there have been approval in the past for part-time employees to receive
holiday pay. Does the board want to do this for all part-time employees?
Jessica Picard – States the budget won’t be impacted where the hours are already built in
David Alves – Makes a motion to pay part-time employees holiday pay
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

e. MMA re: First Amendment Audits
Jessica Picard – States this group appears to ultimately prove a point that certain spaces are public
and are trying to get a reaction in the process of proving their point. This guidance from MMA states
they are not permitted into private office spaces. Employees are allowed to close their doors.

f. PO #1609 For Cemetery Committee, Tree Removal (Amount$4999.99)
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to approve. David Alves Seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

g. Appointment: Ordinance Review Committee, George Cheney
David Alves - makes a motion to appoint George Cheney to Ordinance Review Committee
Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

OTHER 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

ADJOURN 

David Alves – Makes a motion to adjourn. Jessica Picard Seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0 
Meeting is adjourned at 7:45pm.  

__________________________________________ 
Ralph “Ralph” Blackington (Chair) 

__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair) 

_____________________________________________ 

David Alves 

_____________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_____________________________________________ 

John Tibbetts

I, Lindsay Gagne, Clerk to the Select Board of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting 
of 4 pages are the original minutes of the Board of Selectmen Regular Meeting dated December 19th, 2022 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne DRAFT



ITEM#4: (a.) Payroll Warrant









ITEM#4: (b.) AP Warrant











Local Health Officer 

• Appointed for 3-year terms

• Must be qualified by education, training, or experience in the field of public health. If not qualified as such,

then must meet qualification standards within 6 months after appointment.

• Liaison for “Public Health Threats” = Any condition or behavior that can be reasonably expected to place

others at significant risk of exposure to infections with a communicable disease.

• 5 Primary Job Roles include:

o Overall health resource to the community

o Mediator and enforcer of complaints that cannot be resolved

o Reports to the Select Board on community public health status

o Reports to ME CDC and DHHS on any perceived public health threats

• Legal Requirements

o Keep record of all proceedings, transactions, ordinances, orders and rules acted by the LHO (May

keep a log of all actions taken and responded to and provide copies to admin)

o Report cases of or facts related to a communicable disease to the Commissioner

o During declared health emergency, report to the Commissioner facts re: potential notifiable

diseases related to the declared health emergency.

o Handles complaints by members of the public concerning conditions posing a public health threat

o With consent of the owner, inspect any place or premises where filth, or conditions posing a public

health threat are known or believed to exist. If inspection is refused, LHO shall apply for an

inspection warrant from District Court. (CDC recommends the Town Attorney weigh in if this would

be necessary before applying for the warrant)

o After consultation with the Commissioner, order removal of nuisances posing a public health threat

o Act as a resource connecting residents with public health services provided by ME CDC.

o Enforce public health safety laws:

▪ Pertaining to exclusion of students from school (Title 20-A MRSA §6356)

▪ Pertaining to Control of Brown Tail moth (Title 20-A MRSA §1444)

▪ Pertaining to removal of nuisance of a dead animal (Title 20-A MRSA §1561 & 1562

▪ Pertaining to the establishment of temporary health care facilities (Title 20-A §1762

▪ Pertaining to prohibited dumping (Title 30-A §3352)

• May work in correlation with the CEO, ACO, Fire Chief, and Local Plumbing Inspector.

• Enforces all state laws, DHHS Rules and Local Health Ordinances

• Other Duties may include

o Assist with Animal/ Insect borne disease in conjunction with ACO

▪ Reporting cases of strange animal behavior to DHHS, HETL, Dept. of Inland Fishery &

Wildlife, Dept. Of Agriculture, Maine Game Warden.

o Assist with Environmental/ Land Use nuisances that may pose a health risk

▪ Sewage, solid waste, septic tanks, faulty systems, etc. (Usually works in conjunction with

CEO, LHO are not specifically authorized to intervene in these areas.

o LHO Shall receive and examine the nature of complaints made by members of the public concerning

conditions posing a public health threat or potential health threat.

o May assist in protecting drinking water and water sources in conjunction with EPA and DHHS.

o Assist with food sanitation issues with restaurants and other establishments in conjunction with the

Health Inspection Program. District Sanitarian can inspect/ investigate.

ITEM#5: (a.) - Health Officer - Discussion from last meeting. 



Maine Local Health Officers Manual – Revised August 2015
36

APPENDIX B. LHO RESOURCE CHART

Problem Area LHO LPI/CEO ACO IFW Professional 
Consultant 

Manufact'd 
Housing 
Board 

DHHS 

Reference
Landlord tenant issues - 
Implied warranty and 
covenant of habitability 

T14 M.R.S.A. 
§6021

Primary Assist x 

Bed Bugs T14 §6021 Primary Primary x x
Dangerous buildings T17, M.R.S.A. 

§2851
x Primary x

Unclean premises T17 §2851 Primary Assist x 
Removal of private 
nuisances that could be 
injurious to health 

T 22 § 461 Primary Assist x

Removal of private 
nuisances 

T22 §1561 Primary Assist x 

Removal of dead animal T22 §1562 Assist x x Assist x 
Reporting adult abuse T22 §3477 Primary Assist x x
Reporting child abuse T22 §4011 Primary Assist x 
Bathing beaches T 22 § 461 Assist Primary 
Malfunctioning sewage 
disposal systems 

T30-A §3428 Assist Primary x 

Automobile junkyards T30-A §3751 Assist Primary 
Cemeteries T13 §1343 Primary x 
Mobile Home parks T10 §9003 Assist Primary x x

LHO: Local Health Officer 
CEO: Code Enforcement Officer 
LPI:    Local Plumbing Inspector 
ACO:  Animal Control Officer 
Professional Resource: Third party contractor 
Manufacturing Housing Board 
DHHS: Department of Health and Human Services personnel 



ITEM#6: (d.) Treasurer Expense Report 12-29-22





















PROPOSAL FOR AUDIT SERVICES 

TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 

ITEM#7: (d.) Auditing Services



MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Proposed Fee 

Our proposed fee is based on cooperation from your personnel and the assumption that 
unexpected circumstances will not be encountered during the audit. If significant additional 
time is necessary, we will discuss it with you and arrive at a new fee estimate before additional 
costs are incurred.  

Five-year contract beginning the year ending June 30, 2024 – the year ending June 30, 2028 

$ 6,000 /year 



   
 

 

 

 

PROPOSAL TO PROVIDE AUDIT SERVICES 

TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 

Submitted by: 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 
PO Box 313 

Levant, Maine 04456 
Telephone: (207) 884-6408 

 
Contact Person: 

 
Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 

maineaudits@gmail.com 
 

Proposal submitted: December 22, 2022 
 

  

mailto:maineaudits@gmail.com


Table of Contents 

Letter of Transmittal  4 

Firm Background 5 

Engagement Staffing  6-7

Summary of Audit Procedures 8-9

References  10 

Proposed Fee  11 



Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA 
 

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 

PO Box 313, Levant, Maine 04456 
Phone: (207) 884-6408 Email: maineaudits@gmail.com 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Town of Lyman 
11 S. Waterboro Road 
Lyman, Maine 04002 
 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit the following proposal to provide audit services to the Town of 
Lyman for the years ended June 30, 2024 through June 30, 2028. If chosen as the auditor for the Town, we 
feel that we will work well with your staff and provide the Town with an efficient, thorough, well-presented 
audit in a timely manner.  
 
The auditing services provided will include an independent auditors’ report and audited financial 
statements for the Town in conformance with the standards established by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board. We will conduct the audit to satisfy the requirements of the State of Maine 
Department of Audit and all other State and Federal compliance laws and regulations.  
 
The following sections of this proposal outline our experience and qualifications and the approach we 
take during an audit.  
 
Thank you for considering our firm for your auditing needs. If you have any questions or would like any 
additional information please feel free to contact me by phone (207) 884-6408 or email at 
maineaudits@gmail.com.  
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 
Principal 
 
 

mailto:maineaudits@gmail.com


   
 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Firm Background 

The firm Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA was established in 2011 to provide accounting and 
auditing services to municipalities throughout the state. Currently, the firm provides services to 
approximately 50 municipalities from the New Hampshire border to Aroostook County.  

Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA is independent of the Town of Lyman, Maine as defined by 
the U.S. General Accounting Office’s Government Auditing Standards and generally accepted 
auditing standards.  

The firm and the partner to be assigned to the Town’s audit are properly licensed to practice as 
certified public accountants in the State of Maine. Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA is a 
professional corporation incorporated in the State of Maine.  

The firm of Maine Municipal Audit Services is a small firm with one shareholder – Mindy J. Cyr, 
CPA and is based in Levant, Maine. We anticipate utilizing the following professional staff on 
the Town’s audit engagement:  

 Partner 1   

The firm has established a reputation of providing quality work in a time-sensitive manner. We 
strive to provide our clients with a prompt report and are successful in most cases.  We 
welcome questions throughout the year and are committed to being available to our clients. 
We feel that our role as the town’s auditor is more than showing up to your office once a year. 
We have assisted our clients in a variety of professional services throughout the year – for 
example: 

• Assisting in development of proper internal control systems and procedures. 
• Consulting in computer software implementation. 
• Bank and tax collection reconciliation problem resolution.  
• Creating or revising chart of accounts. 

All professional staff working on governmental audits obtains forty hours of continuing 
professional education annually, with at least twenty-four of those hours dedicated to 
governmental auditing. 

 

  



 
 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Engagement Staffing 

The following individual will be the partner assigned to the audit of the Town of Lyman, Maine. 
All staff working on audits are licensed to practice as Certified Public Accountants in the State of 
Maine and specialize in governmental accounting and auditing.  

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA is the firm’s managing partner and is involved from start to finish on all of the 
firm’s audit engagements. She is responsible for overall planning and performing the 
engagement. Her direct involvement with the audit ensures an efficient and thorough 
engagement. Mindy’s resume can be found on the following page.  

  



   
 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Engagement Staffing 

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 
Levant, Maine 

Managing Partner 
 

Summary: 
 
Twenty years of governmental accounting and auditing experience, from planning audits to 
issuing audit reports to consulting on computer software and internal control systems. 
 
Professional History: 
 
2011-Current – Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA – Founding and Managing partner. 
2002-2011 – Hollingsworth & Associates, CPA, PA – Senior Audit Manager. 
 
Education: 
 
Husson University – M.S. in Business Administration – 2007 
Husson University – B.S. in Accounting – 2003 
 
Continuing Professional Education: 
 
Maine Board of Accountancy requires all licensees to complete 40 hours of continuing 
professional education every year. Mindy has completes all 40 with 32 of those hours being 
related to governmental auditing and accounting each year.  
 
License: 
 
Certified Public Accountant – State of Maine  
 
Professional Associations: 
 
Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
Member of the New England Peer Review. 

 



 
 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Summary of Audit Procedures 

The audit will be an audit of the town’s financial accounts and records in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards for financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The 
objective of our audit is to determine whether the financial statements prepared under GASB 
standards present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the town.  

We follow an efficient, thorough and systematic audit approach.  

In planning and performing the audit for the Town of Lyman we will: 

• Obtain an understanding of your accounting system and internal control structure. 
• Identify and assess risk factors of the town. 
• Evaluate and test a sample of controls. 
• Verify account balances. 
• Evaluate physical security and access to computer programs and data files. 
• Assist in financial statement preparation. 
• Issue the following reports: 

o Independent Auditors’ Report on the fair presentation of the financial 
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. We will provide; 
 Six (6) bound copies and an electronic copy in pdf format. 

o The annual financial reporting requirements to the State of Maine Department 
of Audit in compliance with Title 30-A, M.R.S.A § 5823. 

o A letter to management on any reportable conditions found during the audit. A 
reportable condition shall be defined as a significant deficiency in the design or 
operation of the internal control structure which could adversely affect the 
town’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial data consistent 
with the assertions of management in the financial statements.  

o A report to the Board of Selectmen informing it of; 
 The auditors’ responsibility under the generally accepted auditing 

standards. 
 Significant accounting policies. 

 
 
 



   
 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 
Summary of Audit Procedures 

(Continued) 
 

 Disagreements with management. 
 Major issues discussed with management prior to retention or 

reappointment. 
 Significant audit adjustments. 
 Difficulties encountered in performing the audit. 
 Any other issues, adjustments, or concerns encountered during the 

auditing process. 
• Adjusting entries and a beginning trial balance for the general ledger accounts will be 

provided.  

  



 
 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

References 

 
We take pride in our relationships with our clients. We strive to be available whenever there is 
a question or need for assistance throughout the year. Similar engagements (5) to the Town of 
Lyman are listed below: 
 
Vittoria Stevens, Town Manager 
Town of Bradford 
PO Box 26 
Bradford, Maine 04410 
(207) 327-2121 
 
Benjamin Breadmore, Town Manager 
Town of Holden 
570 Main Road 
Holden, Maine 04429 
(207) 843-5151 
 
Suzanne Cole, Tax Collector 
Town of Levant 
PO Box 220 
Levant, Maine 04456 
(207) 884-7660 
 
Cynthia Grant, Town Manager 
Town of Newburgh 
2220 Western Avenue 
Newburgh, Maine 04444 
(207) 234-4151 
 
Lisa Young, Treasurer 
Town of Cushing 
39 Cross Road 
Cushing, Maine 04563 
(207)354-2375 
 
 
 
 
 
 



January 3rd, 2023 

To the EPA’s Grant Application Review Team: 

On behalf of Lyman, Maine, I am pleased to submit this letter of support for our partnership 

with ecoMaine in its efforts to modernize and improve single-sort recycling operations for more 

than 450,000 people in Maine  

Our work with ecoMaine, both as part of its Board of Directors, and on several initiatives to 

promote the solid waste hierarchy to our residents, has been significant and closely aligned, 

and we would welcome the opportunity to collaborate with the organization once again, 

particularly on an issue that has faced several challenges over the past few years, and one that 

closely aligns with our municipal goals of significant waste diversion.   

What stands out at ecoMaine the most is its commitment to trust and transparency. In working 

closely with ecoMaine on methods to increase the amount of single-sort recycling tonnage, I 

continue to be impressed with the organization’s future financial planning and communication 

to its member communities about what lies ahead for recycling programs, the organization, 

and the industry at large. It is with this understanding of a significant investment in new sorting 

equipment and a trust that ecoMaine is the most effective steward of our municipal recycling 

and solid waste dollars that I provide this support.  

We are fortunate to have ecomaine’s experience, partnership, and dedication to education and 

outreach as part of our commitment to sustainable, informed recycling and waste 

management. We are glad to support this programs proposal and hope you will consider it 

favorably.  

Sincerely, 

Ralph Blackington 

_____________________________________ 

Select Board Chair 

Town of Lyman 

ITEM#7: (e.) EcoMaine Grant Application Letters



January 3rd, 2023 

To the EPA’s Grant Application Review Team: 

On behalf of Lyman, Maine, I am pleased to submit this letter of support for our partnership 

with ecoMaine in its endeavors to increase awareness of, access to, and participation in single 

sort recycling in multi-family homes.   

Our work with ecoMaine, both as part of its Board of Directors, and on several initiatives to 

promote the solid waste hierarchy to our residents, has been significant and closely aligned, 

and we would welcome the opportunity to collaborate with the organization once again, 

particularly on an issue that presents a challenge in many municipalities.  

Ecomaine’s educational efforts have helped Lyman over many years. Their commitment to the 

EPA’s solid waste hierarchy helps out Town’s diversion programs by nit simply addressing 

‘recycling s. trash’, but provides the options to reduce, reuse, and compost as well.  

We are fortunate to have ecomaine’s experience, partnership, and dedication to education 

and outreach as part of our commitment to sustainable, informed recycling and waste 

management. We are glad to support this programs proposal and hope you will consider it 

favorably.  

Sincerely, 

Ralph Blackington 

_____________________________________ 

Select Board Chair 

Town of Lyman 


	Lyman Audit Proposal.pdf
	Lyman Audit Proposal
	TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE
	Table of Contents

	LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL
	Town of Lyman
	11 S. Waterboro Road
	Lyman, Maine 04002
	Thank you for the opportunity to submit the following proposal to provide audit services to the Town of Lyman for the years ended June 30, 2024 through June 30, 2028. If chosen as the auditor for the Town, we feel that we will work well with your staf...

	Lyman Audit Proposal




